ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PILED
DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX
MAR 2 9 2000
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY

EDWARD PRITCH WALSH,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-622

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a petition for discretionary review of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in Walsh v. State, case no. 1D99-1529 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 21, 2000) (Appendix A) based on express and direct conflict with the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in Walker v. State, 479 So.2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) (Appendix B).

CERTIFICATE OF FONT SIZE

This brief was prepared using courier new 12 point, a font which is not proportionally spaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

An Escambia County grand jury indicted Edward Pritch Walsh for the first degree murder of his father, the attempted first degree murder of his brother, and an aggravated assault on his mother. (R 1-3) The trial court declared Walsh incompetent to stand trial. (R 18-21) Florida State Hospital discharged Walsh and returned him to the Escambia County Jail. (R 22) The trial court found him competent to proceed to trial.

Walsh raised the defense of insanity at trial. During the State's case, the following facts about Walsh's mental condition and the offenses were introduced:

Rupert and Josephine Walsh adopted Edward when he was three years-old. (T1:118) There were two other children in the family, Jacqueline and Christopher. (T1:119) Edward suffered from mental problems. (T1: 128) At the time of trial, Edward was 34 years-old and except for some periods of time and times of hospitalizations, he had lived at home with Rupert and Josephine. (T1:126-127)

Edward's mental problems really started after he received a head injury in a motorcycle accident when he was 15 years-old. (T1:128-129) After the injury, Edward had times of extreme anger. (T1:129) He received psychiatric treatment and medication. (T1:130) The medication helped most of the time, except when Edward failed

to take it appropriately. (T1:130) Without the medication, Edward acted differently. (T1:130) As Josephine said, Edward would get crazy. (T1:131) They would hospitalize him. (T1:131) Edward was hospitalized many times. (T1:131)

In the early morning hours of August 30, 1997, Edward took a taxicab to his parents house. (T1:119) He had moved out the house about a month earlier. (T1:120) Josephine let Edward in the house. (T1:120) Edward asked for the keys to her car. (T1:121) She told him her car was broken. (T1:121) He asked for the key to his father's vehicle, and Josephine told him that was for his father to decide. (T1:121) Edward picked up two kitchen knives and came toward his mother. (T1:121-122)

Josephine could tell by Edward's behavior that he had not been taking his medication. (T1:132-133) He had never before threatened her in that manner. (T1:133) Additionally, when he became angry, Edward unzipped his pants, exposed his penis, and said, "I'm a man." (T1:132) Josephine said he had never before done anything like that. (T1:132-133) She knew he would not behave in that manner if he had been on his medication. (T1:133)

When Edward came toward her, Josephine was scared and shouted.

(T1:122) Her husband, Rupert, came out and began to talk to Edward.

(T1:122) Edward asked Rupert for the key to his truck, but Rupert

refused to give it to him. (T1:122) Josephine, at this point, ran to the neighbor's house. (T1:123)

Edward's brother, Christopher Walsh, was 28 years-old and he lived in the house with his parents. (T1:135-136) He came home around midnight, went to his room and fell asleep. (T1:136) Later, a booming noise awakened him. (T1:136) Christopher looked into his parent's room where he saw Edward stabbing his father. (T1:137) His father was in the jacuzzi inside the master bathroom. (T1:137) Christopher yelled at Edward and tried to grab him. (T1:137) Edward turned around, holding a knife in each hand. (T1:137) Christopher ran. (T1:137) Still holding both knives, Edward ran after him. (T1:137)

Christopher ran down the hall toward his bedroom. (T1:137-138) Edward was chasing him with both knives still in his hands. (T1:137-138) Christopher fell when he tripped over a pillow he had dropped in the hallway. (T1:138, 145) Edward tried to stab him, but Christopher managed to avoid being struck -- the knife point was hitting the carpet around him. (T1:138) Edward was over him, but Christopher managed to get him off. (T1:138) Christopher crawled on his hands and knees to the end of the hall and into his bedroom. (T1:138) Before he stood up, Christopher closed the bedroom door. (T1:138, 149) Edward was hitting the door, and Christopher saw the

blades of the knives stabbing through the middle of the door. (T1:139, 149) After getting the door locked, Christopher jumped out the window and went to his neighbor's house to call the police. (T1:139) During this entire time, Edward had never spoken a word. (T1:145)

After the State rested its case, the Defense also rested. (T2: 269-270) The State asked the court to strike the defense of insanity. (T2:270) Even though the defense presented no experts, the court ruled there was sufficient evidence presented during the State's case to raise the insanity defense. (T2:270-283) The defense move for a judgment of acquittal on the ground that sufficient evidence presented in the State's case raised a reasonable doubt as to Edward's sanity and that the State had failed to prove the defendant sane beyond a reasonable doubt. (T2:289) The court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal. (T2:290) The court instructed the jury on the insanity defense.

On appeal, the First District Court held that the evidence presented was insufficient to raise the defense of insanity, the trial court correctly denied the motion for judgement of acquittal and furthermore, the trial court erred in giving an insanity defense instruction to the jury. (App. A) Walsh v. State, case no. 1D99-1529 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 21, 2000). The First District Court

acknowledged that its decision contradicted the decision of the Second District Court in <u>Walker v. State</u>, 479 So.2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). <u>Ibid</u>.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal's decision in this case held that evidence of severe mental health problems and bizarre behavior at the time the offense is insufficient to raise a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's sanity unless also accompanied by opinion evidence that the defendant was insane.

Walsh v. State, case no. 1D99-1529 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). In the opinion, the First District Court acknowledged that the Second District Court of Appeal held to the contrary position in Walker v. State, 479 So.2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). (Walsh, App. A) The opinion Walsh expressly and directly conflicts with the opinion in Walker. This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the instant case.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT IN WALKER V. STATE, 479 SO.2D 274 (FLA. 2D DCA 1985), THEREBY GIVING THIS COURT DISCRETIONARY REVIEW JURISDICTION OVER PETITIONER'S CASE.

To invoke this Court's discretionary review jurisdiction on the basis of conflict between holdings of district courts, a petitioner must demonstrate "express and direct conflict" between the decision sought to be reviewed and the holdings of other district courts in other cases. See, Art. V, Sec. 3(b)(3) Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv); Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). The First District Court's decision in this case provides this conflict on the face of its opinion by acknowledging that the Second District Court of Appeal held to the contrary in Walker v. State, 479 So.2d 274. In the Walsh opinion, the First District Court wrote

... The evidence presented indicated that the appellant suffered from bipolar disorder, required medication to treat the disorder, became angry and erratic when he was not taking his prescribed medication, and may not have been taking his medication on the night the offenses were committed. However, no evidence was presented that because of his mental disorder, the appellant did not understand the nature and consequences of his actions, nor was evidence presented that, because of his mental disorder, the appellant did not know that his actions were wrong, even if he understood their nature and consequences. Contrary to our sister court's holding in

Walker v. State, 479 So.2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), we find that such evidence is legally insufficient to raise a reasonable doubt in the minds of the jurors regarding the appellant's sanity at the time the offenses were committed....

Walsh v. State, case no. 1D99-1529 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (App. A)

Resolution of this conflict is important to the criminal justice system since this is an issue which continue to occur.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner, Edward Pritch Walsh, asks this Court to exercise its discretion and to accept the instant case for review.