# ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 1 4 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURY

SC00-622 CASE NO.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Respondent.

EDWARD PRITCH WALSH,

Petitioner,

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

THOMAS D. WINOKUR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 906336

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01 THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, EDWARD PRITCH WALSH, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

The opinion of the district court below is attached as Appendix A, and the opinion in <u>Walker v. State</u>, 479 So.2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), is attached as Appendix B.

A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

## CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State rejects the Petitioner's statement of case and facts because it improperly relies on the record on appeal before the district court. Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986). The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, attached in slip opinion form. It also can be found at 25 Fla. L. Weekly D499 (Fla. 1st DCA February 21, 2000). The relevant facts are as follows:

[Petitioner] suffered from bipolar disorder, required medication to treat the disorder, became angry and erratic when he was not taking his prescribed medication, and may not have been taking his medication on the night the offenses were committed. However, no evidence was presented indicating that, because of his mental disorder, the appellant did not understand the nature and consequences of his actions, nor was evidence presented that, because of his mental disorder, the appellant did not know that his actions were wrong, even if he understood their nature and consequences.

Walsh, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at D499.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner has improperly relied upon the record in the trial court. The appropriate focus upon the operative facts, as contained within the "four corners" of the DCA's decision, reveals no direct and express conflict with the ruling of the Second District in Walker v. State, 479 So.2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). In Walker, the court stated that defense experts are not required to give an opinion regarding the ultimate issue of sanity in order to shift the burden to the State to prove that the defendant was sane. In the district court decision below, the court ruled that failure to provide evidence of one of the essential elements of an insanity defense is insufficient to shift the burden to the State to prove that the defendant was sane. These rulings do not conflict.

Even if the two decisions did in fact conflict, the conflict has already been resolved in favor of the decision below by decisions of this Court, which were cited by the district court below. To the extent that <u>Walker</u> stands for the proposition cited by Petitioner, it has been overruled by these supreme court cases.

#### ARGUMENT

IS THERE EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND <u>WALKER V. STATE</u>, 479 So.2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985)? (Restated)

#### Jurisdictional Criteria

Petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article V,  $\$ \ 3(b)(3)$ , Fla. Const. The constitution provides:

The supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision."

Reaves, supra, at 830. Accord Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986) (rejected "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed petition). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction.

Reaves, supra; Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980) ("regardless of whether they are accompanied by a dissenting or concurring opinion"). In addition, it is the "conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." Jenkins, 385 So. 2d at 1359.

In <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958), this Court explained:

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. revision and modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of of public issues importance preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

Accordingly, the determination of conflict jurisdiction distills to whether the District Court's decision reached a result opposite Walker v. State, 479 So.2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

# 1. The decision below is not in "express and direct" conflict with Walker.

In Walker, the trial court had refused a defense-requested instruction on the burden of proof for an insanity defense, and gave only Standard Jury Instructions 3.04(b) and 2.03. Id. at 275. Subsequent to the trial court decision, this Court decided Yohn v. State, 476 So.2d 123 (Fla. 1985). According to the Walker court, Yohn held that "Standard Jury Instructions (Criminal) 3.04(b) and 2.03 do not adequately instruct on the state's ultimate burden to prove that the defendant was sane at the time of the offense, once there was sufficient evidence presented to rebut the presumption of sanity." Walker at 276. The State agrees with that statement of law. The court then recounted the evidence which created reasonable doubt to rebut the presumption of the defendant's sanity. This evidence consisted of lay witness testimony that the

defendant had been hospitalized for treatment of mental illness and had exhibited irrational, paranoid behavior, and expert testimony.

Id. The expert testimony consisted of various diagnoses of mental illness, but the court specifically stated that "none of [the experts] were able to state unequivocally that the defendant was insane at the time of the offenses." Nonetheless, without further analysis, the court concluded that "[c]learly, the trial produced sufficient evidence to raise a reasonable doubt about the defendant's sanity" and vacated the conviction. Id.

In the instant case, the evidence indicated the following:

[Petitioner] suffered from bipolar disorder, required medication to treat the disorder, became angry and erratic when he was not taking his prescribed medication, and may not have been taking his medication on the night the offenses were committed. However, no presented evidence was indicating that, because of his mental disorder, the appellant did not understand the nature and consequences of his actions, nor was evidence presented that, because of his mental disorder, the appellant did not know that his actions were wrong, even if he understood their nature and consequences.

Walsh, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at D499. The court held that "without such evidence, the presumption of [Petitioner's] sanity at the time of the offense was not rebutted, the state was not required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the appellant was legally sane at the time of the offenses, and no jury instruction on the insanity defense was required to be given." Id. at D499-500. The court cited several cases to support this holding, including this Court's decisions in Hall v. State, 568 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1990) and Chestnut v. State, 538 So.2d 280 (Fla. 1989).

A person is considered to be insane when 1) he had a mental infirmity, disease or defect, and 2) because of this condition he did not know what he was doing or its consequences, or, although he knew what he was doing and its consequences, he did not know it was wrong. Florida Standard Jury Instructions (Crim.) 3.04(b). In the instant case, the district court held that without evidence of the second element of insanity set out above, a defendant is not entitled to a jury instruction on the insanity defense. Ιn contrast, the Walker court held that the defendant was entitled to an insanity defense instruction even though the defense experts did not testify to the ultimate conclusion of the defendant's sanity. These holdings are not inconsistent: Walker did not hold that the evidence failed to produce facts showing one of the essential elements of an insanity defense, only that the expert witnesses did not testify to the ultimate conclusion that the defendant was insane.

Petitioner claims that the district court held below that "evidence of severe mental health problems and bizarre behavior at the time of the offense is insufficient to raise a reasonable doubt as to defendant's sanity unless also accompanied by opinion evidence that the defendant was insane" (PJB 7). The State submits that this was not the district court's holding, and suggests that Petitioner has tailored this language to create an appearance of conflict with <u>Walker</u>. Again, the district court below held that the evidence was not sufficient to show one of the essential elements of an insanity defense and did not address whether there

was opinion testimony regarding the ultimate question of the defendant's sanity. The district court's statement that the evidence was insufficient "contrary to our sister court's holding in [Walker]" was an extraneous expression regarding an inapplicable case. In fact, the two cases do not directly conflict, and this Court should not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.

# 2. If <u>Walker</u> does conflict with the district court opinion, the conflict was resolved by decisions of this Court.

Petitioner essentially contends that <u>Walker</u> stands for the proposition that the evidence need not show that a defendant did not understand the nature and consequences of his actions, or that, because of his mental disorder, the defendant did not know that his actions were wrong, even if he understood their nature and consequences, in order to raise a reasonable doubt regarding his sanity. If the <u>Walker</u> court had made this ruling, it would be in direct and express conflict with the ruling below. However, if <u>Walker</u> did make such a ruling, then it has been overruled by decisions of this Court long before the decision in the instant case. As such, <u>Walker</u> cannot be used to invoke this Court's discretionary conflict jurisdiction.

Chestnut v. State, 538 So.2d 280 (Fla. 1989), ruled that evidence of an abnormal mental condition not constituting legal insanity is inadmissible to prove lack of intent. More directly, Hall v. State, 568 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1990), held that "expert testimony that a defendant suffered from a mental infirmity, disease, or defect without concluding that, as a result, the defendant could not distinguish right from wrong is irrelevant."

Id. at 885. This ruling is directly contrary to the proposition for which Petitioner claims that <u>Walker</u> stands, and directly supports the decision below. Evidence of mental illness without evidence that the defendant could not distinguish right from wrong is not sufficient to raise reasonable doubt. If in fact <u>Walker</u> holds that such evidence is sufficient to raise reasonable doubt, it was overruled by <u>Chestnut</u> and <u>Hall</u>.

Walker has never been cited for the purported rule that Petitioner claims is in conflict with the district court decision below, in the Second District or anywhere else. In contrast, the ruling in Hall stated above has been applied in other cases. For instance, in Crockham v. State, 723 So.2d 355 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), the defendant suffered from bipolar disorder, but the evidence showed that at the time of the offense she knew and was able to distinguish between right and wrong, and was able to understand the act she committed was wrong. Id. at 356. Citing Hall, the court ruled that with such evidence, the burden did not shift to the State to prove that the defendant was sane. Id.

The decision of the district court below to mention <u>Walker</u> in its opinion and contrast it to its ruling was not meant to indicate

¹. Prior to the instant case, <u>Walker</u> has only been cited in conjunction with <u>Yohn</u>, <u>supra</u>, for the general rule stated in <u>Yohn</u> that once the accused introduces evidence sufficient to present a reasonable doubt of sanity, the presumption of sanity vanishes and the accused's sanity must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the state. <u>See State v. McMahon</u>, 485 So.2d 884, 886 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); <u>Lentz v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 986 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); <u>Fisher v. State</u>, 506 So.2d 1052, 1054 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); <u>Miller v. State</u>, 532 So.2d 1290, 1292 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); and <u>Crockham v. State</u>, 723 So.2d 355, 356 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998).

direct and express conflict with another district. The district court did not certify conflict with the Second District, and its passing reference to <u>Walker</u> was not the basis of its opinion. A closer reading of <u>Walker</u> shows that it is not in direct conflict with the decision below, and if it is, then <u>Walker</u> has been overruled by this Court. This Court should therefore decline to exercise its discretionary conflict jurisdiction here.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, the State urges this Honorable Court to decline to exercise jurisdiction.